Ly.

No. 92629-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LIFE DESIGNS RANCH, INC., a Washington Corporation, VINCENT BARRANCO, an individual, and BOBBIE BARRANCO, an individual,

Appellant,

FILED

v.

MICHAEL SOMMER,

E DEC 23 2015 CRF WASHINGTON STATE

SUPREME COURT

Respondent.

APPEALED FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III CASE NO. 32922-4-III

LIFE DESIGNS RANCH, INC. AND VINCENT AND **BOBBIE BARRANCO'S PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JASON T. PISKEL NICHOLAS D. KOVARIK BENJAMIN J. MCDONNELL PISKEL YAHNE KOVARIK, PLLC 522 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 410 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 321-5930 **Attorneys for Petitioners**

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The petitioners are Life Designs Ranch, Inc. and Vincent and Bobbie Barranco¹.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Life Designs requests review of the following published decision of the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division III: <u>Life</u>

<u>Designs Ranch, Inc. v. Sommer</u>, No. 32922-4-III (Nov. 12, 2015).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the following issues presented fall squarely within RAP 13.4(b) because the Appeals Court decision conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and of the Appeals Court, and involve significant questions of constitutional law and issues of substantial public interest, such that acceptance of review is proper.
- 2. Whether Life Designs is entitled to partial summary judgment as a matter of law regarding the liability of Mr. Sommer² for defamation *per se*.
- 3. Whether genuine issues of material fact exist regarding whether Mr. Sommer is liable for defamation *per se*.
- 4. Whether the Appeals Court erred in holding Life Designs to a new legal standard for defamation *per se* that now requires

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, "Life Designs" refers collectively to all petitioners.

² "Mr. Sommer" shall refer to Respondent/Defendant Michael Sommer.

defamation *per se* plaintiffs to show that defamation was somehow "*extreme*" and "*severe*" sufficient to survive summary judgment.

- 5. Whether false statements that Mr. Sommer posted to his website are not non-actionable opinion.
- 6. Whether genuine issues of material fact exist regarding whether the statements Mr. Sommer published were false.
- 7. Whether Mr. Sommer republished content of the HEAL website by posting to his website a hyperlink to that website with directions to "click or cut and paste the link below."
- 8. Whether Mr. Sommer interfered with Life Designs' business expectancy by improper means in that his interference was wrongful in relation to the common law of defamation.
- 9. Whether the Declarations of Vincent Barranco and Clay Garrett create genuine issues of material fact as to both causation and damages, sufficient to survive summary dismissal of claims for defamation, tortious interference, and false light invasion of privacy; and, specifically, whether evidence of a sequence of events in proximity of time—alone, or with more—is sufficient to give the issue of proximate causation to the jury.
- 10. Whether genuine issues of material fact exist that Mr. Sommer placed the Barrancos in a false light and that, as a result,

the Barrancos suffered damages.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background.

Owned by Vincent and Bobbie Barranco, Life Designs operates therapeutic and transitional programs for young adults with destructive behavioral patterns such as addiction. (CP 12, 47). It operates a treatment program in Cusick, Washington, on the International Selkirk Loop in the Pend Oreille River Valley. (CP 12, 48, 52). This scenic setting boasts commanding views of mountains, the Pend Oreille River, and living trees. (Id.). The therapeutic natural setting is a critical component of Life Designs' program and profitability. (CP 47-48). On average, thirty-eight percent of clients completing this program continue to a transitional program in Spokane, Washington. (CP 48). Life Designs generally operates its Cusick, Washington program at maximum occupancy: twelve clients at \$52,200 per client and a \$1,200 initial interview charge. (Id.). The transitional program costs \$12,000 per client. (Id.).

Life Designs employed Clay Garrett as Program/Admissions Director to develop and continue client enrollment. (CP 197-98). He worked with potential clients and their parents to determine whether Life Designs would be a suitable fit. (CP 198). He also

worked with Educational Consultants who are hired by parents of potential clients to assist in selecting a recovery program. (CP 198-99). Consultants typically recommend three programs from which a client chooses one. (CP 199). Life Designs had continually received client referrals including referrals from Educational Consultants. (CP 201). Mr. Garrett was also responsible for Life Designs' online marketing and he directed potential clients, parents, and referral sources to Life Designs' website. (CP 198-200).

Mr. Sommer contracted with Life Designs to send his son to the Cusick, Washington program, but later disputed Life Designs' billing. (CP 48). On June 26, 2015, he sent Life Designs an email:

I am willing to get legal with this. Are you? I would hope that the most important thing to you is your reputation. We all know how easily reputations can be destroyed, without the legal system even getting involved. But I would go both routes if I have to. You are wrong on all fronts. Please reconsider before we find it necessary to proceed.

(CP 257 (emphasis added)). He chose the extra-judicial route.

Mr. Sommer contacted one of Life Designs' referral sources, Chad Balagna, and instructed him to stop sending Life Designs any referrals. (CP 202-203, 241-243). On June 28, 2012, Mr. Sommer obtained the domain name www.lifedesignsranchinc.com, which is nearly identical to Life Designs' prior and present domain names.

(CP 48, 254). Mr. Sommer uploaded a host of false factual statements concerning, among other statements, the education and experience of Life Designs' staff, the quality of its recovery programs, and the therapeutic environment offered to its clients. (CP 248-51). In addition, Mr. Sommer posted a link to a separate website containing defamatory content:

For more info click or cut and past the link below http://www.heal-online.org/lifedesigns.htm

("HEAL Website") (CP 249). That website falsely conveys that Life Designs employee, Kimberly Mlinarik, worked at a program where, the HEAL website reports, a young man died. (CP 65)

Prior to the time Mr. Sommer posted his website, Life Designs had an average historical referral rate of 17 potential clients per quarter and had an average enrollment rate of 12 students. (CP 49). However, during the operational period of Mr. Sommer's website, Life Designs' referral rate plummeted and client enrollment abruptly declined. (Id.). This website caused Life Designs to lose nine to twelve clients. (CP 202). Except for Mr. Sommer's tortious conduct, everything remained constant. (Id.).

B. Procedural Posture.

On July 13, 2013, Life Designs filed an Amended Complaint, advancing claims of defamation, invasion of privacy, and tortious

interference. (CP 11-19). On January 16, 2014, the trial court denied Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Liability for Defamation *Per Se.* (CP 88-92). The trial court dismissed all of Life Designs' claims with prejudice by two subsequent summary judgment orders. (CP 343-46, 348-51). On November 12, 2015, the Appeals Court published its decision affirming the trial court, with the Honorable Judge Fearing writing a detailed dissent. (Appx. A). Life Designs petitions for review.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Appeals Court's Decision is in Conflict with Decisions of this Court and the Appeals Court that Allow a Trier of Fact to Decide whether a Statement is Defamatory *Per Se* Irrespective of whether it is "Extreme" or "Severe."

The Appeals Court concluded that, as a matter of law, the false statements at issue are not defamatory *per se*. (Op. at p. 6). To reach this conclusion, it erroneously read <u>Caruso v. Local Union No.</u> 690 of International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, <u>Warehousemen and Helpers of America</u> to require defamation to be "extreme" and "severe" as a condition to giving the issue of defamation *per se* to the jury and, in applying its new standard, reasoned that Mr. Sommer's defamatory statements did not rise to that level. 100 Wn.2d 343, 670 P.2d 240 (1983). (Op. at p. 6).

<u>Caruso</u> involved a defamation claim arising from a "do not patronize" publication. <u>Id</u>. at 345, 670 P.2d 240. This Court held a tortious interference claim must be dismissed and, because the jury verdict was unsegregated, remanded for trial on the defamation claim. <u>Id</u>. at 354-55, 670 P.2d 240. Addressing jury instructions, the Court stated: "[i]n all but extreme cases the jury should determine whether the article was libelous per se." Id. at 354, 670 P.2d 240.

Nothing in <u>Caruso</u> requires a plaintiff to prove defamation was "extreme" or "severe." Rather, a publication is defamatory per se, irrespective of whether it is "extreme" or "severe" where it:

(1) exposes a living person to hatred, contempt, ridicule or obloquy, or to deprive him of the benefit of public confidence or social intercourse; or (2) injures him in his business, trade, profession, or office.

Id. at 353, 670 P.2d 240 (citing cases); see, e.g., Vern Sims Ford, Inc. v. Hagel, 42 Wn. App. 675, 684, 713 P.2d 736 (1986) (affirming award of presumed damages where, after business dispute, customer mailed flyers calling business and salesperson "thieves"); Wood v. Battle Ground Sch. Dist., 107 Wn. App. 550, 557, 574, 27 P.3d 1208 (2001) (reversing summary judgment dismissal based on a statement that one's job performance was "lacking"); Waechter v. Carnation Co., 5 Wn. App. 121, 485 P.2d 1000 (1971) (affirming jury award based on statements about competitor's milk quality).

In determining that this case was not "extreme" or "severe," the Appeals Court reasoned that, unlike <u>Caruso</u>, there "were [no] calls where people said they would not send their family member/client to Life Designs." (Op. at p. 6). However, this fact goes to damages, not liability, and damages are presumed where a statement is defamatory per se. <u>Maison de France</u>, Ltd. v. <u>Mais Oui!</u>, Inc. 126 Wn. App. 34, 52-54, 108 P.3d 787 (2005). The website falls squarely within the scope of defamation per se.

B. The Appeals Court's Decision Conflicts with Decisions of the Appeals Court that Permit a Private Defamation *Per Se* Plaintiff to Recover Presumed Damages where No Matters of Public Concern are Involved without Proof of Malice.

The Appeals Court decision conflicts with prior decisions of that court to the extent its newly fabricated "extreme" or "severe publication" standard is tantamount to a requirement that a private defamation per se plaintiff prove malice where the issues are not of public concern. Id. at 54, 126 Wn. App. 34 (explaining that "where no matters of public concern are involved, presumed damages to a private plaintiff for defamation without proof of actual malice may be available" (holding under Dun & Bradstreet, Inc. v. Greenmoss Builders, Inc., 472 U.S. 749 (1985)); Momah v. Bharti, 144 Wn. App. 731, 740 n. 3, 182 P.3d 455 (2008) (same). Life

Designs are private plaintiffs and no matters of public concern are involved. However, Life Designs satisfies even the malice standard.

C. The Appeals Court Decision Violates the Substantial Public Interest of Protecting Individuals and Businesses from Harm to Reputation Caused by Certain Types of Publications where Proof of Actual Damages is Impossible Notwithstanding Near Certainty that Damages Resulted in Fact.

"The interest protected is the reputation of the one alleged to be defamed." Ward v. Painters Local Union No. 300, 41 Wn.2d 859, 864, 252 P.2d 253 (1953). The Appeals Court's new standard will leave without any remedy a host of individuals and businesses surely having suffered significant harm to their reputation but where proof of damages is impossible³. Such outcome is intolerable to the core policies forming the foundation for defamation *per se*:

The rationale of the common-law rules has been the experience and judgment of history that "proof of actual damage will be impossible in a great many cases where, from the character of the defamatory words and circumstances of publication, it is all but certain that serious harm has resulted in fact."

<u>Dun & Bradstreet, Inc.</u>, 472 U.S. at 760 (quoting W. Prosser, Law of Torts § 112, p. 765 (4th ed. 1971)). Notably, here, the Appeals Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Life Designs' defamation

³ While the Declarations of Vincent Barranco and Clay Garrett (CP 47-63, 196-230) provide ample admissible evidence of causation and damages, the Appeals Court disagreed. (Op. at p. 12). Nevertheless, Life Designs is entitled to presumed damages for defamation *per se*.

claim, due to, both courts incorrectly reasoned, lack of evidence of causation and damages, notwithstanding that "it is . . . certain that serious harm has resulted in fact." Id. (internal quotation omitted).

Indeed, this new standard will foreclose meritorious defamation *per se* claims because, on the one hand, the publication must be "*extreme*" and sufficiently "*severe*" to even survive summary judgment but, on the other hand, "*extreme*" and "*severe*" statements are typically non-actionable opinion or hyperbole.

D. The Appeals Court's Determination that the Website Contains Only Opinion Conflicts with Decisions of this Court and the Appeals Court.

The Appeals Court erroneously concluded that Mr. Sommer's website was non-actionable opinion. (Op. at p. 7-11). The Appeals Court considered, but improperly applied, the following factors:

(1) the medium and context in which the statement was published, (2) the audience to whom it was published, and (3) whether the statement implied undisclosed facts.

<u>Dunlap v. Wayne</u>, 105 Wn.2d 529, 539, 716 P.2d 842 (1986).

1. The Appeals Court Did Not Properly Consider the Medium and Context.

Using the internet, Mr. Sommer crafted a website that took on the appearance of Life Designs' actual website, a type of website known as a spoof website. (CP 248-251). While no published

Washington case exists addressing defamation in a spoof website, common law rules of defamation apply with equal force in this context and easily adapt to a changing technological landscape.

Although the Appeals Court recognized spoof websites may be actionable, it determined that Mr. Sommer's website was not in fact a spoof website due to his use of the word "seems," specifically: "healing is not done and seems to be very limited in it's [sic] attempt." (Op. at pp. 3, 8 (quoting CP 251)). The Appeals Court, however, went a step further when it reasoned that, because "Mr. Sommer did not attempt to pass his website off as Life Designs' official website" (i.e. not a spoof website), it necessarily followed that his website "suggested opinions, not facts." (Op. at p. 8). This ruling conflicts with Washington law that websites that are not spoof websites may still contain false statements forming a basis for a defamation claim. See, e.g., Momah, 144 Wn. App. at 751-54, 182 P.3d 455 (defamation involving article posted to webpage). Furthermore, the Appeals Court did not consider all <u>Dunlap</u> factors before jumping to its decision that the entire website was opinion.

2. The Appeals Court Did Not Properly Consider the Unique Audience.

The Appeals Court did not properly consider the expectations of the audience. Failing to reflect on the website as a

whole, it instead latched onto this: "[t]hinking about going to or sending someone you love to Life Designs Ranch?? Read this first."

(Op. at p. 9 (quoting CP 60)). The Appeals Court concluded that the website contained mere opinion because this language suggested the website was a review. (Op. at p. 9). Reviews may be defamatory.

The Appeals Court overlooks critical context. The audience was: young adults, their parents, and referral sources expecting to find factual information concerning Life Designs for the purpose of assessing the program's suitability for young adults on their path to recovery. (CP 199-200). Also, Mr. Sommer's website contained no interactive feature, such as a blog or a chat room, inviting past and potential clients to offer competing viewpoints and to engage in any ongoing dialogue. (CP 248-51).

3. The Appeals Court Did Not Properly Consider whether the Website Implied Undisclosed Facts.

"The . . . most crucial factor addresses whether a listener unknown to the plaintiff can judge the truthfulness of the statement." Davis v. Fred's Appliance, Inc., 171 Wn. App. 348, 366, 287 P.3d 51 (2012). Listeners unknown to Life Designs could take the following as truthful statements of fact, among others:

- What you get . . . 2 or 3 twelve step meetings a week in a very small western Washington community where the only young adults in attendance are those from Life Designs ranch.
- Who should Go? You should go to Life Designs if: . . You believe that it takes no education or experience with substance abuse, or compassion for the young adult who is recovering from a substance addiction to help them become the person they want to be.
- What you get . . . A visual experience of pine trees, dead pine trees, falling down pine trees, disintegrated pine trees, and more pine trees. River, can't be seen. Mountains, can't be seen.

(Id.).

These statements are objectively false. Nevertheless, the Appeals Court incorrectly reasoned that the factors weighed in favor of Mr. Sommer because Life Designs' real website was made available to Mr. Sommer's audience. (Op. at pp. 8-11). However, that true facts are assessable to an audience to whom false statements are published does not somehow turn those false factual statements into ones of opinion. See Dissent Op. at p. 19 (recognizing that "[n]o principle of law excuses defamatory statements on the ground that the reader may find the true facts elsewhere"). Courts must consider the context in which a publication is made, not the entire universe of factual information.

The Appeals Court even recognizes that "Mr. Sommer

incorrectly described Life Designs as being located in Western Washington" but nevertheless concluded the entire website is opinion. (Op. at p. 10). This statement is objectively false.

Furthermore, the Appeals Court simply writes off the false statement concerning the compassion of Life Designs' staff as "a subjective determination" and reasoned that, as such, it was opinion. (Op. at p. 10). However, a jury could find this so-called "subjective determination" is objectively false. (Id.).

E. The Appeals Court Extended Freedom of Speech Principals Too Far and Violated the Substantial Public Interest of Protecting Reputational Interests.

This case presents tension between constitutional freedom of speech principals and the substantial public interest of protecting one's reputation from false and defamatory publications. The Appeals Court set forth the following misguided policy:

From a policy standpoint, allowing businesses to sue any unhappy consumer for what they posted online for defamation would stifle freedom of speech. The Internet is a medium where statements expressing opinions in the context of reviewing businesses and services are often found.

(Op. at p. 8-9). However, precluding businesses from suing "unhappy consumer[s]" for defamatory statements posted to the Internet would encourage people to use the Internet to spread defamatory content with impunity. Such anything-goes approach

to defamatory internet posts flies in the face of the very interest the tort of defamation aims to protect: one's reputational interest.

F. The Appeals Court's Conclusion that a Hyperlink Cannot Constitute Republication is in Conflict with Decisions of the Appeals Court and Raises Issues of Substantial Public Interest.

This case presents to the Court an issue of first impression: whether posting a hyperlink to a webpage communicates the content of the webpage to third persons such that the hyperlink may constitute republication of the website to which the link leads.

Here, Mr. Sommer republished the content of the HEAL website by directing his audience to access it, as follows:

For more info click or cut and paste the link below http://www.heal-online.org/lifedesigns/htm.

(CP 249). The Appeals Court held a hyperlink cannot constitute republication, reasoning that a hyperlink is akin to a mere reference rather than a new communication of content. (Op. at p. 14).

This conclusion conflicts with decisions of the Appeals Court confirming that posting content to a website may constitute republication. Momah, 144 Wn. App. at 752-54, 182 P.3d 455. As explained in Lamon v. City of Westport:

The placing of the file in the public library would constitute, assuming communication of its contents to a third party, a republication of statements made.... The republication of a defamatory statement,

being a separate publication, may make the second publisher liable

.... Were the file placed on a library rack where the public could read it without having to request it and receive it from the library staff, the inference of publication would be strong.

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