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

hyperlink to HEAL, despite these facts being subject to demonstration 

through a competent expert. LDR attested that its business comes through 

referrals by education consultants, though LDR submitted no testimony 

from any education consultant it works with who was either aware of the 
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Sommer website or had been influenced by it. As described by the Court 

of Appeals: 

The sparse evidence shows (1) a decline in 
referrals following publication of Mr. Sommer's 
website despite an increase in traffic to Life 
Designs' official website, (2) some hearsay by Mr. 
Garrett about an interaction between Mr. Sonuner 
and Mr. Balagna regarding not making refe11'als to 
Life Designs, and (3) no other apparent changes 
accounting for the referral decline. Mr. Garrett's 
declaration opining Mr. Sommer's website caused 
the decline in refenals is conclusory. Mr. Garrett 
limited his analysis to Life Designs' official 
website. No evidence shows anyone who visited 
Life Designs' website visited or was influenced by 
Mr. Sommer's website. Life Designs has not 
refe11·ed to or prod1..!ced anyone who did not 
choose Life Designs because of Mr. Sommer's 
. website. And while Life Designs can show Mr. 
Sommer talked to Mr. Balagna about not referring 
anyone to Life Designs, no evidence shows Mr. 
Balagna took Mr. Sommer's advice and stopped 
refening clients. 

(Decision at 11-12) 

LDR simply argues that "proximate cause may be shown by 

circumstantial evidence." LDR's problem is not what ''may be shown," 

but rather what it actually did and did not submit in resisting the summary 

judgment motion. LDR did not attempt to prove that anyone other than its 

own employees viewed the Sommer website; LDR did not attempt to 

prove that anyone followed the HEAL hyperlink; LDR did not attempt to 
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prove that the educational consultants it does business with were aware of 

or influenced by the Sommer website. 

It is well settled that conclusory allegations do not create a genuine 

issue of material fact. LDR limited its response to Sommer's summary 

judgment motion to the conclusory opinions of its owner and one of its 

employees, without corroborating evidence (e.g. page view, click through, 

and other analysis of the Sommer website) or corroborating testimony 

(e.g. from an educational consultant with which LDR does business). Its 

complete failure to present sufficient evidence to withstand the motion is 

neither an issue of substantial public interest, nor does it put the Court of 

Appeals' decision in conflict with other decisions. 

C. Affirming The Trial Court's Decision That The Claimed 
Defamation Is Non~Actionable Is Neither A Couflictillg 
Decision Nor All Issue Of Substantial Public Interest. 

As described by the Court of Appeals, the alleged defamatory 

statement must be a statement of fact, not a statement of opinion. 

(Decision at 7, citing Davis v. Fred's Appliance, Inc., 171 Wn. App. 348, 

365, 287 P.3d 51 (2012)). "As the line between fact and opinion 'is 

sometimes blurry,' we consider the following factors to determine whether 

a statement is actionable: '(1) the medium and context in which the 

statement was published, (2) the audience to whom it was published, and 

(3) whether the statement implies undisclosed facts.'" (Decision at 7w8, 
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quoting Dunlap v. Wayne, 105 Wn.2d 529, 539, 716 P.2d 842 (1986)), 

"Regarding the first factor, the Dunlap court noted statements expressing 

opinion are found more often in certain contexts. The court should 

consider the entire commlmication and note whether the speaker qualified 

the defamatory statement with cautionary terms of apparency." (Decision 

at 8, quoting Dunlap, 105 Wn.2d at 539). 

Mr. Sommer did not attempt to pass his website 
off as Life Designs' official website; the "About 
Us" section is clear, using "seems" as a word of 
apparency. Dunlap, 105 Wash.2d at 539, 716 P.2d 
842; CP at 251. Thus the website suggested 
opinions, not facts. Furthermore, Mr. Sommer's 
website did provide a hyper link to Life Designs' 
official website and expressly said that the link 
was to "the website for LifeDesigns Ranch." CP 
at 250. From a policy standpoint, allowing 
businesses to sue any unhappy consmner for what 
they posted online for defamation would stifle 
freedom of speech, The intemet is a medium 
where statements expressing opinions in the 
context of reviewing businesses and services are 
often found. The mediiun and context of Mr. 
Sommer's website denotes it is opining about the 
quality of Life Designs' business, especially when 
looked at in relation to the other two factors 
discussed next. 

For the second factor, courts should consider 
'~whether the audience expected the speaker to use 
exaggeration, rhetoric, or hyperbole." Dunlap, 105 
Wash.2d at 539, 716 P.2d 842. Here, the audience 
was the people researching Life Designs. Online 
search engines retrieved many results for Life 
Designs; the first result was Life Designs' official 
website, the fourth result was Mr. Sommer's 
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website, and the fifth result was the HEAL 
website. The blurb describing Mr. Sommer's 
website read, "Thinking about going to or sending 
someone you love to Life Designs Ranch? 7 Read 
this first." CP at 60. This language signaled this 
was a review and not the official website of Life 
Designs. 

The third factor is "perhaps [the] most crucial" as 
"[a]rguments for actionability disappear when the 
audience members know the facts underlying an 
assertion and can judge the truthfulness of the 
allegedly defamatory statements themselves." 
Dunlap, 105 Wash.2d at 539-40, 716 P.2d 842; 
see Davis, 171 Wash.App. at 366, 287 P.3d 51 
(stating the third factor "a~dresses whether a 
listener unknown to the plaintiff can judge the 
truthfulness of the statement"). "Whether a 
statement is one of fact or opinion is a question of 
law lmless the statement could only be 
characterized as either fact or opinion." Davis, 171 
Wash.App. at 365, 287 P.3d 51. Life Designs 
discusses three statements in its briefing. 

The first criticized statement is: "What you get .... 
2 or 3 twelve step meetings a week in a very small 
western Washington community where the only 
young adults in attendance are those from Life 
Designs ranch." CP at 248. While Mr. Sommer 
incorrectly described Life Designs as being 
located in western Washington, 1 this statement 
was not based on undisclosed facts. Rather, Life 
Designs' official website states it is located in 
Cusick, Washington, which is on the eastern side. 
of the state. 

1 Sommer is a resident of the State of Minnesota. Not being from Washington, it is odd 
that the Court of Appeals, the dissent, and LDR all assume both that Sommer should be 
familiar with the local vernacular concerning "Western Washington" and "Eastern 
Washington," and was intending to use the local vernacular in the statement f'very small 
western Washington community." From the perspective of Minnesota, Cusick, 
Washington is very small, is very westem, and is in Washington, 
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The second statement, "What you get .... A visual 
experience of pine trees, dead pine trees, falling 
down pine trees, disintegrated pine trees, and more 
pine trees. River, can't be seen. Mountains, can't 
be seen, Civilization, can't be seen. But there are 
pine trees! I II!" CP at 248. On its website, Life 
Designs disclosed it is located ''on 30 acres 
overlooking the Pend O'reille River on the 
international Selkirk Scenic Loop" and the "area 
boasts a reputation for one of the most 
undiscovered recreational areas in the northwest." 
Life Designs Ranch, 
http://www.lifedesignsinc.com (last visited Sept. 
9, 2015). The website shows pictures of clients in 
Life Designs' natural setting. I d. 

The third statement is "Who Should Go? You 
should go to Life Designs if: ... You believe that it 
takes no education or experience with substance 
abuse, or compassion for the young adult who is 
recovering from a substance addiction to help 
them become the person they want to be.'' CP at 
249, Again, this statement is based on disclosed 
facts. Life Designs' website discusses the 
experience and education of its staff. While the 
compassion of the staff is not directly addressed 
on Life Designs' website, compassion is a 
subjective detenninatfon and is thus opinion. 

Each Dunlap factor weighs in Mr. Sommer's 
favot·, Given all, Mr. Sommer's statements were 
nonactionable as defamation. Even if actionable, 
Life Designs fails to make a sufficient showing 
Mr. Sommer's statements proximately caused its 
damages. 

(Decision at 7 ~ 11) 
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LDR's response to the Court of Appeals' analysis is simply to reK 

iterate its position that three of the statements on the Sommer website 

were false. (Pet. Br. at 10Kl3) Those argumentative assertions do not 

address the substance of the Court of Appeals' analysis, and neither 

identify an actual conflict with any case of record nor any issue of 

substantial public interest. 

D. Affirming The Trial Court's Decision That LDR Faile£! To 
Submit Evidence To Support Each Element Of Its Tortious 
Interference Claim Is Neither A Conflicting Decision Nor An 
Issue Of Substantial Public Interest. · 

LDR's tortious interference claim was actually a re~statement of its 

defamation claim, and relied upon the same evidence and argument. As 

noted by the Court of Appeals, 11The five elements of a tortious 

interference with a business expectancy are: ~~(1) the existence of a valid ... 

business . expectancy; (2) that defendants had knowledge of that 

[expectancy]; (3) an intentional interference inducing or causing a breach 

or termination of the . . . expectancy; ( 4) that defendants interfered for an 

improper purpose or used improper means; and (5) resultant damage." 

(Decision at 15, quoting Leingang v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, 131 

Wn.2d 133, 157,930 P.2d 288 (1997)). 

Interfering with a business expectancy is itself insufficient; market 

competition is inherently an interference. Rather, "To be improper, 
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interference must be wrongful by some measure beyond the fact of the 

interference itself, such as a statute, regulation, recognized rule of 

common law, or an established standard of trade or profession," ~Moore v. 

Comm. Aircraft Interiors, 168 Wn. App. 502, 510, 278 P.3d 197 (2012). 

The only claim for improper interference on the part of Sommer is the 

content of the website. That is, the tortious interference claim is predicated 

upon the content of the website being defamatory. 

Moreover, the damages claimed from the alleged tortious interference 

are likewise predicated upon the defamation claim - that the Sommer 

website caused an alleged drop in business. As held by the Court of 

Appeals: 

Decisive is the fifth element. Life Designs fails to 
show resultant damage to its business expectancy. 
The trial cotrrt did not err in dismissing this claim 
because Life Designs' conclusory claim of injury 
to reputation lacks evidentiary support. No client, 
potential client, or referral source submitted an 
affidavit establishing they can no longer trust Life 
Designs or did not choose Life Designs because of 
Mr. Sommer's website. 

(Decision at 16-17) 

E. Affirming The Trial Court's Decision That The Barrancos, 
Individually, Failed To Submit Evidence To Support Each 
Element Of Their Invasion of Privacy Claims Is Neither A 
Conflicting Decision Nor An Issue Of' Substantial Public 
Interest. 

As described by the Court of Appeals: 
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[ A]ll evidence in relation to damages is in 
reference to Life Designs. Ms. Barranco was not 
mentioned by name on Mr. Sommer's website; her 
claim is derivative of Mr. Barranco's claim. Mr. 
Barranco did not state he personally suffered 
damage to his reputation or any emotional 
suffering; rather, all his statements refer to the 
damages suffered by his business, Life Designs. 

(Decision at 18) 

LDR argues "But as owners of Life Designs, damage to the Barrancos 

for invasion of privacy can take the form of decline in its business. See 

Brink v. Griffith, 65 Wn.2d 253, 258, 396 P.2d 793 (1964)." (Pet. Br. at 

20). In Brink, the Mayor of Medical Lake created a fake dossier of 

documents designed to look like a mug shot and criminal record of a city 

employee. !d. at 255~56. Brink bears no relationship to LDR's claim. 

F. Holding That Provision Of A Hyperlink, . Without 
Reproduction Of Contents Of The Destination, Does Not 
Constitute "Republication" For Purposes Of A Defamation 
Analysis Is Consistent With Existing Washington Law, And 
Presents No Issue Of Substantial Public Interest In Itself. 

The HEAL website accuses LDR of operating like a cult, among other 

things. (CP 289~95) The sole reference provided on the Sommer website 

to HEAL was as follows: "For more info click or cut and paste the link 

below http://www.heal-online.org/Hfedesigns.htm.'' (CP at 249) 

As noted by the Court of Appeals, it has been previously held that a 

person republishes material for defamation purposes when he posts the 
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entirety of a defamatory article to a website, (Decision at 13, citing 

Momah v. Bharti, 144 Wn. App. 731,752-53, 182 P.3d 455 (2008). 

The Court of Appeals also noted that "While no Washington law is 

directly on point, a federal comi grappling with this same issue used 

Washington law to hold "a mere reference or URL [Uniform Resource 

Locator] is not a publication of the contents of the materials refened to." 

(Decision at 13-14, quoting U.S. ex. rel. Klein v. Omeros Corp., 897 

F.Supp.2d 1058, 1074 (W.D.Wash. 2012)). As also noted by the Court of 

Appeals, in Salyer v. S. Poverty Law Center, Inc., 701 F.Supp.2d 912, 916 

(W.D.Ky. 2009), the court observed: 

It appears that the common thread of traditional 
republication is that it presents the material, in its 
entirety, before a new audience. A mere reference 
to a previously published article does not do that. 
While it may call the existence of the atiicle to the 
attention of a new audience, it does not present the 
defamatory contents of the article to that audience. 
Therefore, a reference, without .more, is not 
properly a republication. 

The Court of Appeals concluded: 

Because a hyperlink is more like a reference than 
a sepmate publication, "[m]aking access to the 
referenced article easier does not appear to 
wmrant a different conclusion from the analysis of 
a basic reference." Id, at 917; see also In re 
Philadelphia Newspapers, 690 F.3d 161, 175 (3d 
Cir 2012) (holding ''though a link and reference 
may bring readers' attention to the existence of an 
miicle, they do not republish the article"). 
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We are persuaded by Klein and Salyer. We reason 
a URL is not qualitatively different from a mere 
reference. Therefore, we hold Mr. Sommer did not 
republish allegedly defamatory material when he 
posted on his website: "For more info click ot· cut 
and paste the link below http://www.heal~ 
online.org/lifedesigns.htm." CP at 249. 

(Decision at 14w 15) 

LDR contends that "The Appeals Court, thus, failed to appreciate the 

nature ofhyperlinks," and argues that '1posting a hyperlink to a webpage is 

the modem day equivalent of placing a file on a library shelf." (Pet. Br. at 

16) Quoting in part a footnote from Benson v. Or. Processing Serv., Inc., 

136 Wn. App. 587, 150 P.3d 154 (2007), LDR appears to contend that it 

believes the HEAL website, with its separate domain name operated by a 

non~pruiy, to be "the same· document" as Sommer's website. This 

contention is unsupported by either the Benson case or the facts of the 

present case. Benson concerned an unsubscribe link in an email; the 

footnote quoted in part by LDR reads, in its entirety: 

A "link," "button," or . "hyperlink" is "an 
electronic link providing direct access from one 
distinctively marked place in [an electronic] 
docmnent to another in the same or a different 
document." MERRIAM~WEBSTER ONLINE 
(2006), http://www.m~ 

w.com/dictionary/hyperlinlc An "unsubscribe" 
lin1c allows the recipient of an e-mail to notify the 
sender that the recipient does not wish to receive 
further e-mail from the sender. 
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Benson, 136 Wn. App. at 589n.l. 

Sommer did not own or operate the HEAL website, and did not host 

the data for the HEAL website. The hyperlink in question is not a file; it 

is a reference which, when clicked upon, takes the user to a new location. 

A reference to a location, which itself does not repeat allegedly 

defamatory content, is not itself a defamatory "republication," and LDR 

identified no authorities to the contrary. The Court of Appeals did not err 

in holding that, consistent with Washington law, the mere linlc provided by 

Sommer in the present case, without any content reproduction, does not 

constitute a "republication." 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition.